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WAGNER COLLEGE

GUIDELINES FOR SECURING EXTERNAL SUPPORT

Introduction

Wagner College is committed to providing faculty and staff with on-going opportunities to grow through contributions to one’s academic or professional interests. Faculty and staff who participate in research opportunities, new program development, and conferences enrich the intellectual environment on campus and ensure Wagner’s continuing presence as a national leader in higher education.  

Securing external support from foundations, corporations, and government agencies provides additional resources, which benefit the faculty, staff and students.  Faculty and staff are invited to actively participate in the development of proposals at the institutional, departmental and at the individual level.  The information provided in this guide will assist both the college and the grant seeker in navigating new or improving existing relationships with external funders.   

SOURCES OF FUNDING

Successful fundraising relies on the ability to ask the right funder for the right amount for the right project at the right time. In this section, the focus will be on the four sources of funding: foundations, corporations, government agencies and associations.  As a grant seeker, 85-90% of your time should be spent developing an idea into a proposal; the remaining 10-15% should be spent identifying and narrowing the field of funders to those most likely to be interested in your project.  The College will assist your efforts by reviewing proposals, researching similar projects that have received funding, refining the list of identified funders and interacting with the funders where appropriate.

Foundations

Foundations are non-profit organizations established to provide support to other non-profits.  The IRS requires them, to distribute 6% of their assets annually.  Primarily this support is targeted funding in the form of grants, but it can also include access to research and/or experts. Foundations are classified, by the IRS as 501(c) 3 and file an IRS 990 tax return. The 990 provides critical information about the leadership of the foundation, previous and current funding interests and  its assets and liabilities. The most common types of foundations include the following: 


Corporate Foundations are established by companies to administer corporate philanthropic activity. The Board of trustees may be involved in the governance of both the foundation and the parent company.  Foundation staff tends to work for only the foundation.  These foundations may have a broad spectrum of giving interests that relate to and support the parent company’s business interests.   


Community Foundations are a repository of donations from individuals and businesses within a particular geographic area. The localized nature of a community foundation extends to its leadership, usually comprised of local community leaders as well as its range of funding interests.  Topics that are of most concern to the community receive priority funding. 


Operating Foundations are private foundations that use their assets to promote and disseminate their own research or to provide direct service.


Independent Foundations are foundations established by prominent individuals and/or families and receive their operating funds through either inherited wealth or through business activity. There are three distinct types of independent foundations: 

· Family Foundations- are easily identified by their size, interests and staff and board composition. They tend to be small with localized funding interests. Due to their size, they tend to have limited staff and many of the board members are members of the funding family.

· National/Regional Foundations- have familiar names and tend to have very broad funding interests with very specific guidelines and deadlines. They have professional staffs responsible for assisting grant seekers with proposal preparation and review. The staff is responsible for recommending proposals to their board of trustees and for ensuring that the grant is appropriately stewarded.  

· Special Foundations- provide funding for very limited activities, such as a foundation dedicated to children with AIDS.

According to the Foundation Center there are nearly 75,000 foundations with grants-making programs up from 37,571 in 1993. This growth in foundations is tied to the robust economy of the 1990s. Although there are more opportunities for funding, less than 25% of first time proposals submitted will receive funding. 

Developing a relationship with a foundation that leads to the funding of a project may take anywhere from 12-24 months.  During the cultivation period, faculty, staff, and students may be asked to:

· accompany the president, a trustee, provost, vice president for institutional advancement, or director for corporate foundation relations on a visit to the foundation, corporation or government agency; or 

· participate in an on-campus visit by a program officer; or

· provide additional information to a program officer through a phone call or correspondence.

In the event that faculty, staff or students are needed for  additional participation, the director for corporate and foundation relations will coordinate activities with the appropriate campus members.  Your voluntary participation will greatly help in cultivating Wagner’s relationship with funders. 

Corporate Giving Programs


Many companies establish an office (within human resources, marketing/advertising, public affairs or community relations division) to promote corporate philanthropy within their community. Corporations provide support to non-profits using a range of vehicles:

· Matching Gift Programs (which matches an employee’s contribution to a non profit)

· Employee Volunteers

· Technical Assistance

· In-kind gifts of equipment, furniture and other durable goods

· Outright Gifts

· Product donations or financial underwriting  of an event

· Free or low cost publicity services

Corporations engage in philanthropic activities to:

· Support their employees,

· Generate community good will, 

· Maintain and enhance their relationships with organizations, and

· Promote product interests.

Corporations must meet a bottom-line. The more closely a proposal advances corporate interests, the more likely it is to be funded. 

Government Agencies

The government, at the local, state and federal level, provides funding through various agencies.  Through the distribution of Request for Proposals, (RFP’s) agencies announce opportunities for funding.  Most agencies list current RFP’s on their websites. You can usually sign up for email reports from agencies in your area(s) of interest. Many agencies will post on their websites funded proposals.    


RFP’s are sometimes announced suddenly.  Due to various factors, grant programs can be placed on hold for several weeks or even months which can result in an RFP being released very close to the date for submission. 

Associations


While not a major source of funding, disciplined based societies and professional societies offer grants for research, professional development or new program initiatives.  These grants are sometimes referred to as “marquee grants.”  They have high value, because they recognize exceptional work in the given discipline or profession.  Marquee grants are a validation by peers and industry leaders and can be used to leverage other sources of funding.

Proposal Development and Clearance

All proposals or requests for external support must be coordinated through the Office of Institutional Advancement and the Provost.  For proposals, requiring electronic submission (i.e. fast track), contact the Faculty Grants Coordinator or the Office of Institutional Advancement.
Proposal Preparation and Submission Process

Step 0.1
Developing Relationships with Foundations and Program Directors

The Office of Institutional Advancement, the president, provost and other senior officers, faculty, and staff of the College will work to cultivate ongoing relationships with foundations, corporations, government agencies, alumni, and other potential supporters of institutional, research, curricular and co-curricular activities. 

Step 0.2
Repository of Information Relating to Faculty and Staff Research Interests

The Office of Corporate and Foundation Relations will work to establish institutional knowledge of faculty and staff areas of expertise as well as research and pedagogical interests.  The director of corporation and foundation relations staff, and the Faculty Grants Coordinator (Office of the Provost) will alert faculty and staff to potential grant opportunities.

Step1.
Generating Support

The first step in seeking a grant is to identify the level of activity for the proposal  (institutional, departmental/interdepartmental or individual(s)) and to get clearance from the appropriate academic/administrative department head.  It is important at this stage to draft a project synopsis, project timeline,  “ballpark “ budget and list of potential funders.  Each grant seeker will be asked to submit an Intent to Seek External Funding form at the beginning of the proposal development process. Submitting this form will ensure that campus personnel involved with external support activities receive early notice of upcoming grants activity, and will enable the director of corporate and foundation relations to tailor and coordinate campus outreach to funders. 

Institutional proposals are generated through the collaborative efforts of the provost, associate deans of the faculty, identified faculty and/or staff, vice president for institutional advancement and the director, corporate and foundation relations. As needed, the provost in consultation with the department chair and associate deans will recommend a principal investigator (for government grants) or project director (for private corporations/foundations) to coordinate and execute all grant activities.  (For future reference, proposal author will be used to identify either the principal investigator or the project director.) 

Departmental/Interdepartmental proposals serve as an opportunity to rethink or expand departmental curriculum, programs, and services.   The associate deans for the faculty will assist academic departments interested in generating proposals.  Administrative departments should consult with the appropriate dean.

Individuals seeking funds for research purposes, new pedagogical efforts, or to further professional development should first consult with the appropriate academic department chair or administrative department head for initial approval. 

If a proposal commits College information technology resources or requires the purchase of new technology which will be used in conjunction with the College’s technology resources and/or would need to be supported by the Colleges information technology staff, the director for Information Technology must be consulted and any budgetary recommendations must be included on the Intent to Seek External Funding form.

Step 2.  Preproposal Review

Office of Institutional Advancement and the Office of the Provost will review proposals in development.  This meeting will provide appropriate administrators an opportunity to track proposals in development throughout the institution, to ensure compliance with the funder’s requirements for submission, and to consult with the associate controller on the initial budget.  The associate controller will provide budgetary information for overhead/in-direct fees.  When appropriate, the Office of Institutional Advancement will convene a meeting for the proposal author and the appropriate Deans to develop a timeline for moving the proposal from draft to final copy. 

Step 2.5 Communications with Granting Agency

The Office of Institutional Advancement will facilitate consultations with program officers at granting agencies in order that College faculty and staff may discuss the agencies interests, proposal criteria, and the proposed project.

Step 3.
Budget Review

The Vice President of Institutional Advancement and the Provost will work with the Principle Investigator to develop a budget.  The vice president of institutional advancement has primary responsibility for ensuring that the College can meet any financial obligations required by the funder including matching funds, challenge grants and other fiscal and administrative commitments required of the College.  The Provost has responsibility for ensuring that the College can support the requirements of the proposal and the proposal supports the mission of Wagner College.  The Provost oversees the appropriate use of release time, stipends and other issues related to faculty pay and benefits.  The appropriate vice presidents will be consulted as necessary regarding the involvement and compensation of administrators and staff in proposal development and grants. 

Step 4. Proposal Review

The Office of Institutional Advancement must receive the Proposal Review Protocol with the final draft of the proposal at least two weeks prior to the submission deadline. 
Step 5 Proposal Sign-Off and Submission

The Vice President of Institutional Advancement and the Provost will review the revised proposal.  For institutional proposals, the Office of Institutional Advancement will:
· Provide the required IRS tax determination, list of trustees and senior officers, CV’s or resumes for proposal staff and any other required documents.

· Verify institutional data and information

· Make copies for the appropriate campus personnel
· Maintain master files in the office
Step 6.

Waiting

The Office of Institutional Advancement will call the funder within a week of the submission deadline to ensure the arrival of the proposal and to receive the proposal reference number.  The waiting period for foundation and corporation grants can be as short as 2-3 days and as long as 4-18 months.  For government agency grants (i.e. fast track), the Principle Investigator will be the primary contact.
Step 7.  Communicating the Funder’s Decision

If the grant is funded, the Office of Institutional Advancement will notify the proposal author and schedule an implementation meeting with the associate controller if needed.
If the grant is not funded, the director will contact the proposal author and then the program officer to learn the factors that influenced the decision. If the program officer indicates that the proposal should be resubmitted, the director will work with the proposal author to revise the proposal for resubmission, if that is the desire of the proposal author.

Resources for Fundraising

The Hormann Library has a selection of print materials available to assist faculty and staff in researching funders, and developing proposals.  The library staff is currently researching and reviewing possible new additions to the current holdings.  

Print Materials for Developing Proposals

Hormann Library, Reference Section

Standard Sources

Annual Register of Grant Support 


Ref AS 911 A2 A67 



The Foundation Directory 




Ref AS 911 A2 F65 



The Grants Register 




Ref LB 2338 G7 




Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance 

Ref HC 110.P63 A55 2001

Other Useful Sources

Financial Aid for Study and Training Abroad


Ref LB 2337.2.S34 

Periodicals 










Chronicle of Higher Education (2-3 months of back issues and current issue) 



Books 

Foundation Directory (1996) 




Ref AS 911.A2F65

Source Book Profiles 





Ref AS911.A2F6x

  Additional Books and pamphlets

The Foundation Center's Guide to Proposal Writing 

Jane C. Geever and Patricia McNeil


HG 177.5.U6.G44 1993

Proposals That Work 

Lawrence F. Locke, Waneen Wyrick Spriduso and Stephen J. Silverman


Ref Q180.55.P7L63

Getting a Grant: How to Write a Grant Proposal 

R. Lefferts.  

Ref HV41L4.13  1978

Resources at Your Fingertips

There are a number of on-line resources to support proposal research and development. These resources include websites of funders, tried and true materials for proposal writing and well developed grants calendars.  

Foundation and Corporate Resources

Here are a few websites to add to your bookmarks:


The Foundation Center  (www.fdncenter.org) is the authoritative source of information on foundations.  Established by foundations, the Center supports the work of fundraisers through workshops, trainings, print and on-line resources. Although the Foundation Center has print information for almost all 75,000 foundations,  it only has links to about 2,400 foundations. The FC website includes tutorials, IRS 990s and research materials.

The following Foundation Center websites maybe useful to you:

Private Foundations:  http://fdncenter.org/funders/grantmaker/gws_priv/priv1.html
Corporate Giving:  http://fdncenter.org/funders/grantmaker/gws_corp/corp1.html
Public Charities: http://fdncenter.org/funders/grantmaker/gws_pubch/pubch1.html
You may also want to register for the Foundation Center’s e-mail alert for grants opportunities: http://fdncenter.org/pnd/rfp/index.jhtml
The Foundation Center is located at: 

79 Fifth Avenue/16th Street
New York, NY 10003-3076 
Tel: 212-620-4230 


The Chronicle of Philanthropy (www.philanthropy.com) is the journal of record for the fundraising community.  Announcements for upcoming grants, information about trends impacting giving and numerous “how to” sections, make this site extremely useful. 

Government Resources 

Searching for government funding is a little more streamlined than searching for corporate or foundation funding opportunities. The US government maintains several websites, which provide links to funding opportunities in every government agency.  Key websites to bookmark include: 

FirstGov (www.firstgov.gov) and FirstGov for Non Profits (www.firstgov.gov/Business/nonprofit) are one-stop shops for links to agency websites, and information about grant programs. There is also a search function for the Notice of Funding Availability.

Grants.gov (www.grants.gov) administered by the Department of Health and Human Services, Grants.gov connects funding opportunities from 11 departments and agencies.

Institute of Museum and Library Service (www.imls.gov/grants) focuses on funding specific to the arts and humanities. 

Other tools for grants research include the following Federal E-Mail Alert Services:  

http://fedgrants.gov/ApplicantRegistration.html
http://www1.eps.gov/EPSVendorRegistration.html
http://www.nsf.gov/home/cns/index.cfm
http://grants2.nih.gov/grants/guide/listserv.htm
The New York State Assembly regularly announces funding for federal, state and local projects through Grants Action News, an on-line service:  http://www.assembly.state.ny.us/gan/20031101/
Associations and Societies

There are many independent associations and societies that offer content specific grants.  These links allow individuals to research the criteria for these grants.

http://www.aauw.org
http://www.fellowships.aaas.org
http://www.aaas.org
http://www.acs.org
http://www.aarome.org/
http://www.acls.org
http://www.amphilsoc.org
http://www.artsinternational.org
Proposal Writing Assistance

There are a number of links for  “how-to write proposals” guidelines.  These links were obtained from Duke University’s Office of Research Support.


Online assistance with proposal development:

http://www.cpb.org/grants/grantwriting.html
http://www.epa.gov/grtlakes/seahome/grants.html
http://www.tgcigrantproposals.com/
http://chroma.med.miami.edu/research/Ellens_how_to.html
http://www.hfsp.org/how/grantsmanship.php?group=How
http://e-services.imls.gov/project_planning/
http://www.jmu.edu/sponsprog/writingtips.html
http://www.nsf.gov/pubsys/ods/getpub.cfm?nsf9891
http://www.niaid.nih.gov/ncn/grants/default.htm
http://nextwave.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/full/1999/09/20/2
http://www.research.umich.edu/proposals/pwg/pwgcontents.html
Another avenue for developing skills in proposal development and writing includes service on a peer review panel.  Many federal agencies seek peer reviewers, individuals with knowledge or expertise in the area under review, to evaluate proposals for funding.  Listed below are a few agencies that seek panelists regularly: 

http://grants.neh.gov/prism National Endowment for the Humanities  

http://www.nsf.gov/pubsys/ods/getpub.cfm?form428a National Science Foundation

http://webprod.cbmiweb.com/edfrs/frcodes/wope_Readerlogin.cfm US Department of Education Field Reader Service

Other College and University Websites 

In addition to using the Wagner website for information on upcoming grants, consider visiting the websites of other colleges and universities. The following websites were instrumental in identifying resources to assist faculty and staff in generating proposals and in developing Wagner’s policy and procedures for external support: 

http://www.barnard.edu/grants/ Barnard College Office of Corporate and Foundation Relations 

http://www.brynmawr.edu/grants    Bryn Mawr Office of Sponsored Research 
http://www.ors.duke.edu/   Duke University Office of Research Support

http://deptorg.knox.edu/facultygrants/guidelines.html  Knox College, Office of Corporate and Foundation Relations

http://www.research.umich.edu University of Michigan, Department of Research (view section titled” Sponsored projects”)

http://www.csuohio.edu/bahi/usefullinks/usefullinks.htm Cleveland State University Biomedical and Health Institute

http://www.gsr.pdx.edu/rsp/default.html Portland State University Office of Research and Sponsored Projects

Throughout the year, additions will be made to this section.  Submissions of new on-line resources or useful links are encouraged and welcomed.  

Campus Offices Involved in Proposal Development and Grants Administration

This list identifies the campus offices involved in generating external support.  Although listed, each office will be involved as dictated by the requirements of the proposal. Offices are listed alphabetically.

Academic Department Chairs-provide the initial review and approval for any proposal generated by a member of the faculty or by an academic department.

Administrative Department Heads- provide the initial review and approval for any proposal developed by staff reporting to: academic support services (academic advisement, career development and experiential learning, and library), athletics, campus life, enrollment management and summer/external programs.

Associate Athletic Director- responsible for working with members of the athletic staff in developing and securing sponsorship support for athletic programs/initiatives, coordinates sponsorship efforts with the director for corporate and foundation relations.

Associate Controller-responsible for reviewing all proposal budgets and for administration of grant awards

Associate Deans of the Faculty-responsible for working with faculty and/or departments in tailoring proposals and working with the director for corporate and foundation relations.

Associate Provost/Director of Information Technology- reviews and approves all purchases of technology to support grants; provides proposal budgetary information for hardware, software, replacement, maintenance, training and on-going support.

Director of Annual Giving-processes all grant awards for proper crediting and receipting of funds, including acknowledgment letters for receipts of gifts. 

Director of Corporate and Foundation Relations-works with faculty and staff to develop proposals, organizes submission of all proposals to funders, coordinates with the Business Office and Director, Annual Giving to receipt and acknowledge grant awards, has oversight responsibility for the administration of grants, and represents college to external funders.

Director of Human Resources- provides salary information for and arranges payment of faculty and staff involved in grants related work. 

Provost- ensures that each proposal can appropriately supported and that each proposal supports and advances the mission of the College, reviews and authorizes all final submissions of faculty and staff proposals to external funders and serves as the college signatory for proposals.

Vice President for Institutional Advancement- reviews final draft of proposal and budget, and assures institutional capacity required for any financial obligations required by the funder.
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